Parties to Be Named
Chino Valley Unified School District              5130 E. Riverside Dr, Chino, CA 91710

Problem/Complaint
CVUSD has committed the following violations of IDEA 2004 and California EC, causing Stephen to be traumatized, as CVUSD has acknowledged in several IEP meetings and assessments, and leaving Stephen unable to succeed in any placement since.  These violations have caused the loss of two years of schooling so far, with more being lost day by day, and no progress toward a resolution.

On January 18th, 2007, Stephen was excused by his psychologist from the rest of the 07/08 school year (1/22/07-6/30/07) for severe depression and anxiety, and CVUSD responded by placing Stephen in Home & Hospital (H&H)  (exhibit 1).  In violation of Section 1412, “Child Find,” CVUSD did not offer at any time during his entire H&H placement through the end of March 2007 to assess him for SE based on emotional disturbance, instead frightening Stephen and causing him to shut down by persistently demanding to have him placed on psychotropic drugs because he wasn’t being successful.  
CVUSD had at least the following knowledge of Stephen’s “emotional disturbance” and of “autism” pursuant to Section 1401 which invoked its Child Find obligations:

1) In its own PBIP, prepared by Erin Masters, and in its defenses against my compliance complaints to CDE, CVUSD states that Stephen’s academic performance deteriorated through 2006.  CVUSD was so concerned about Stephen that they convened a council of all Stephen’s teachers in the office of  then Asst Principal Dave Nygren to discuss Sephen’s performance.  CVUSD knew in that meeting that Stephen was in distress about his parents’ divorce and hated school.  Taking advantage of our ignorance and having shown its awareness that he was in serious trouble by calling the meeting, CVUSD did not offer to assess him for his disabilities.  It should be noted here that the Child Find obligation is not invoked by a parent’s request for assessment, as implied in the NOI of March 13th, but by the LEA’s awareness that disabilities defined in Section 1401 exist.
2) About a month after this meeting, a little before January 18th, 2007, Stephen refused to go to school at all.  CVUSD was aware through Stephen’s absence, through their conversation with Stephen’s mother at the time, and through the evidence in this episode that things had not improved in the past month, that consequently Stephen was “emotionally disturbed” and therefore needed to be assessed under Child Find.  CVUSD still did not offer to assess Stephen for his disabilities.  Again, when or whether parent asked for an assessment is immaterial, since that is not needed to invoke the Child Find obligation.
3) In response to Stephen’s school refusal, Stephen’s psychologist, Curtis Rouanzoin, excused Stephen from school attendance from January 22nd through June 30th, dated January 18th   on CVUSD letterhead, with a diagnosis of “major depressive episode with severe anxiety (debilitating) and possible physiological problems.” Given this diagnosis on their own letterhead, together with a signed release to exchange information, CVUSD still failed to offer to assess as required by Child Find, nor even to consult with Dr. Rouanzoin as Rouanzoin was expecting them to.
4) Stephen continued to do badly in Home & Hospital at his mother’s house in February 2007, and the Home & Hospital teacher discussed her concerns with Stephen’s mother.  On one of her visits in February, Stephen went up on the roof to escape the session, and he told his mother when she went up to get him that he wasn’t going to go to school, and that if he was made to he was going to jump.  Stephen’s mother told the H&H teacher downstairs about this and she agreed to cancel the session.  The H&H teacher made her supervisors aware of this evidence of extreme school phobia, and CVUSD characterized it as a suicidal incident in correspondence to me.  CVUSD itself took the position that Stephen’s school phobia was so severe as to be suicidal, but continued failing to offer to assess Stephen for his disabilities as required by Child Find throughout Stephen’s time at his mother’s apartment.  
5) Late in February, Stephen moved to father’s apartment, where all agree that Stephen continued to fail.  The H&H teacher gave up, and CVUSD assigned a new teacher, Luis Garcia.  Garcia soon found that he could not succeed with Stephen either, and began to pressure me to have Stephen put on psychotropic drugs, vaguely but unmistakably threatening to bring trouble down on us if we did not comply, in violation of 34CFR 300.154.  He made good this threat early in March by making an unfounded complaint of neglect to the Department of Children’s Services, who responded by sending Holly Ninneman on March 14th to investigate.  Ninneman told us that we had no obligation to submit to CVUSD’s demand to have Stephen drugged and closed the case as unfounded.  By coercing us during March 2007 to have Stephen drugged, CVUSD demonstrated its awareness at that time that Stephen was emotionally disturbed and consequently needed to be assessed in compliance with its Child Find obligation.  CVUSD continued failing to do so through the end of May.
6)  Although knowing nothing of SE law, during February-March 2007 I several times verbally alerted the H&H teacher, Luis Garcia, to Stephen’s probable Asperger’s Syndrome and even offered to lend him Dr. Tony Attwood’s  “The Complete Guide to Asperger’s Syndrome” so that he might better understand Stephen, especially his aversion to homework.  He rejected the offer and did not offer to have me write up a request for assessment, and the CVUSD administration still did not offer in keeping with Child Find to assess for disabilities.  Even when I suggested early in March that Stephen “probably needs an IEP,” CVUSD did not offer to help me write up a request for an evaluation during those two months.  It is not possible to be more precise on the dates for these violations, because CVUSD is still refusing to make available any of Stephen’s educational records for February and March.  Jean Martin, representing CVUSD, took the position on March 18th that no school records exist for February and March of 2007.  Since the NOI of March 13th implies that I’m unclear in how CVUSD violated Child Find because I am not specific enough about when and how I asked for an assessment, I note again here that the Child Find obligation is invoked by the LEA’s awareness of disabilities as defined in Section 1401, not by a parent’s request for assessment.  However, the refusal of CVUSD to respond to my concerns even when fully aware for months of his emotional disturbance and extreme fear of school demonstrates a pattern of intentional defiance of the law, and not mere negligence.  
7)  Being dissatisfied with Stephen’s progress, in early March Luis Garcia verbally offered a “psychological assessment for Stephen’s educational needs,” which I agreed to, saying, “Sure. He already has a psychologist, but in many counselors there is safety,” reminding Garcia that they should consult with Stephen’s psychologist, with whom they had a signed authorization to exchange information.  CVUSD left me with the impression that they actually intended to assess him for educational needs.  As Jean Martin reveals in her NOI of March 13th,   their intention even then was to do a 5150 assessment, but I did not know until I read that in the NOI that they had formed that purpose so early.  The April 4th memo of Linda Casas to her boss, Laurel Mullally, reveals that Stephen was NOT suicidal at the time of the assessment, confirming that it had nothing to do with his being a danger to himself.  Because Garcia had been complaining the entire month of March 2007 that Stephen was too depressed to do school work because we were refusing to have him drugged, the reasonable inference is that the assessment was a device, in violation of 34CFR 300.154, to force Stephen onto the drug regimen that Garcia had been demanding in the expectation that this would make Stephen willing to do school work.  Because CVUSD knew that Stephen was emotionally disturbed, it chose to traumatize Stephen in order to enforce its medical judgment instead of obeying its Child Find obligation to offer to assess Stephen for his disabilities.  It must be emphasized that CVUSD’s unlawful refusal to make available the records from February and March of 2007, which I have demanded several times since October 25th, 2007, makes it impossible for me to be more precise.  Since Jean Martin asserts that they do not exist, I do not know for sure whether they have them and are denying their existence, have unlawfully destroyed them, or failed for two months to keep any records.  In any case, I am being as precise as I can be without them.

8) The 5150 assessment of March 27th, for which I received no written notice, and no notice at all of its intended scope and purpose, violated IDEA 2004 as follows.  Under 20 USC Section 1415 (b)(3), although not yet qualified for SE, Stephen was disabled as defined in Section 1401, and CVUSD was fully aware of this, as thoroughly documented above.  In addition to the foregoing history, Garcia claimed in his email of March 22nd, 2007 to the Director of Student Services that Stephen “is very depressed and is suicidal . . . Stephen bangs his head on the table and with his hands in frustration.  He excuses himself frequently from our dirty work area.  I haven’t been able to make him successful.”  This email documents CVUSD’s full awareness that Stephen was emotionally disturbed and that their efforts were not working, requiring them under Child Find to offer to assess him for his disabilities.  Moreover, Section 1415(a) applies the procedural safeguards of all of Section 1415 to “children with disabilities and their parents” so I was entitled to notice even though Stephen had not yet been qualified for SE.  Indeed, any Procedural Safeguards notice states that full prior notice is required even before the initial assessment for SE, when the child has of course not yet qualified. I was therefore entitled to notice as specified in 1415 (a) (“children with disabilities and their parents”), and the notice had to conform to Section 1415(c)(1).  In violation of the law, I was given no notice at all of the scope and purpose of this assessment, nor of the findings.  Indeed, CVUSD refused to disclose this assessment when asked for it by email on April 8, 2007 and did not finally produce it until November 2007.
9) On April 2nd, 2007, CVUSD called me to say that Stephen was out of H&H and that I had to enroll him at Townsend JHS, even though CVUSD was fully aware that Stephen had been medically excused from attending school – it was in response to that excuse from his psychologist that they had put him in H&H in the first place.  Since CVUSD had placed Stephen in H&H in response to this medical excuse, CVUSD was fully aware that placement at Townsend JHS was inappropriate and not an offer of FAPE.  Indeed, CVUSD attempted no contact whatever with Stephen or either parent throughout the entire months of April and May, and that also was not FAPE.  Certainly there was no offer to assess in keeping with Child Find, although CVUSD was by now fully aware that Stephen was emotionally disturbed and under Child Find was owed an offer to assess in all areas of suspected disability.  
10) On June 1, 2007, CVUSD finally offered to assess Stephen for Special Education, albeit without sending the form.  Stephen, however, when released from his imprisonment, had feared even to go home lest he be seized again by CVUSD.  CVUSD officials refused when asked throughout the month of June 2007 to give Stephen any assurance that he would not again be seized and violently dragged away when assessed.  No meaningful assessment is possible if the student is in dread of violence to his person at any moment, so by refusing to give such assurance, CVUSD violated Section 1414(b)(3)(C) by refusing to provide Stephen  “assessment tools and strategies that provide relevant information that directly assists persons in determining the educational needs of the child”. Certainly a child with a well-founded fear of suffering personal violence at the hands of his assessor must be relieved of that fear for a meaningful assessment to take place.  By denying him this assurance of personal safety for the assessment, CVUSD refused in violation of Section 1412(a)(16), (A) and (C)(I) to provide “appropriate accommodations and alternate assessments where necessary”, with the effect of ensuring that Stephen could not be assessed appropriately. After I brought these concerns to all the school board members on July 5th, I received another offer to assess dated July 11th, but CVUSD continued to refuse in any way to accommodate Stephen’s need to be assured of his personal safety so as to enable a meaningful assessment.  That July 24th we met with the Superintendent, who assured us, looking into Stephen’s face, that they would repeat their action if they wanted to.  Thus, through September 25th, 2007, CVUSD – refusing to accommodate his emotional disturbance - continued to deny a SE evaluation meeting the requirements of Section 1414(b)(3)(C) and Section 1412.
11) In May 2007, CVUSD enrolled Stephen in the general curriculum at Chino Hills HS.  As the foregoing makes clear, CVUSD had been aware for months that Stephen could not function in the general curriculum at CHHS, so enrolling him there where they knew he could not function was a willful denial of FAPE.  CVUSD certainly knew that it was not possible to give Stephen FAPE until he was properly assessed.  Instead of making that possible, CVUSD in September 2007 had its attorney, Jeffery Morris of Stutz Artiano, send a letter threatening to hold Stephen truant, thereby again putting him in fear for his personal safety and further ensuring that he could not receive FAPE from CVUSD. 
12) We agreed in the initial IEP meeting on January 24th, 2008 to try placement at Keystone, a NPS recommended by the West End SELPA. The placement failed, principally because the NPS reminded Stephen of the trauma in the mental hospital, causing abreaction, and because he continued to fear that the Superintendent would again have him traumatized as the anniversary of his imprisonment drew near.  He attended 4 or 5 days from February through September 2008, the last time early in March.  At no time in these 7 months would CVUSD consider assuring Stephen of his personal safety in order to relieve his anxiety so that FAPE could be provided – thus violating the requirement of Section 1412 to provide “appropriate accommodations” to this traumatized child.  It must be emphasized that district personnel have acknowledged in several IEP meetings – in keeping with the findings of every evaluator – that the child has been traumatized by his imprisonment in the mental hospital and is experiencing symptoms of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD), so that CVUSD cannot claim to be unaware of their duty to accommodate Stephen’s disability.  As the US Supreme Court stated in Rowley, a "free appropriate public education" consists of educational instruction specially designed to meet the unique needs of the handicapped child, supported by such services as are necessary to permit the child "to benefit" from the instruction.  In view of the traumatic experience of being dragged out of his own home by agents of CVUSD, the “unique needs of the handicapped child” include being free from his terror of being traumatized again by agents of CVUSD. Refusal to accommodate this “unique need” – their awareness of which is documented in IEPs, assessments, their FAA, and their Behavior Support Plan - constitutes a willful denial of FAPE.
13) CVUSD did promise in the September 3, 2008 IEP meeting to send Stephen a letter assuring him of his personal safety.  However, they did not implement this portion of the IEP, and in the next meeting in October refused to do so in violation of the law.  At the February 2, 2009 annual IEP meeting it was agreed that no educational progress can be expected, and therefore FAPE cannot be provided, unless Stephen’s PTSD is dealt with.  In the meeting, the school psychologist told Stephen, as an abused and traumatized person herself, that although Stephen has been traumatized, he can’t wait for his abuser to acknowledge his fault before he moves on, thus acknowledging that CVUSD has traumatized him.  This we all agreed with, but the issue is the continuing threat.  As Stephen responded, “If you knew there was a sniper in one of the buildings waiting for you, could you walk down the street?” Everyone on the IEP team understood this, as is clear from the tape.  Stephen’s fear for his personal safety has been refreshed by being threatened with arrest for truancy through letters and a personal visit, and so no placement can work, and therefore FAPE has been denied now for two years.  He’s afraid of placements away from home, but since he was falsely 5150d out of his home from a home instruction placement, home instruction also induces crippling anxiety and sometimes abreaction.  CVUSD’s continuing refusal to offer Stephen the assurance of security that he requires is a refusal “to meet the unique needs of the handicapped child, supported by such services as are necessary to permit the child "to benefit" from the instruction,  and so constitutes ongoing denial of FAPE as defined by the Supreme Court in Rowley.

14) CVUSD has continued to withhold records essential to developing a successful IEP.  In particular, CVUSD has withheld ALL records related to Stephen’s home instruction in H&H from January through March 2007 except for two emails.  Likewise, CVUSD has produced no records at all for the period from April 5th through October 2007.  CVUSD now takes the position that no such records exist.  Since my inability to document their knowledge and behavior during February and March 2007 is due to this illegal conduct, they should not be permitted to profit from my lack of documentation.  

Proposed resolution
Compensatory services to make good the two years lost so far, along with the loss of any realistic expectation that Stephen can earn a full high school diploma, “to meet the unique needs of the handicapped child, supported by such services as are necessary to permit the child "to benefit" from the instruction, incorporating the following elements:

1)  CVUSD acknowledges in the February 2, 2009 annual IEP meeting that "we're not going to see a lot of forward movement until we deal with his post-traumatic stress."  CVUSD acknowledges in that same meeting Stephen’s need to "feel valued and not fear for his personal safety" and "working through his post-traumatic stress." Since CVUSD by these words acknowledges that FAPE cannot occur until Stephen is relieved of his fear, CVUSD’s duty to provide FAPE demands a resolution that accounts for these stipulated facts.  Since Stephen’s experiences have rendered him highly suspicious of nearly all educational professionals, this can’t be resolved by just putting him in a different district.  In view of the indifference to his plight that he has experienced from the entire educational system since March 2007 he now expresses a well-founded fear that he will encounter equally dangerous people in other institutions, from whom he will not be protected.  Stephen needs to know that someone cares enough about his welfare to grant him meaningful relief from his injuries – as CVUSD’s psychologist put it in the IEP meeting, that he "feel valued and not fear for his personal safety."  While this proposal is not precise, it is essential to his receiving the FAPE to which he is entitled by law, and is “a proposed resolution of the problem to the extent known and available to the party at the time.”
2)  Since Stephen will not be able to endure a typical high school experience, and he qualifies for SE until he graduates with a full HS diploma, he should be compensated by a program that takes him on the shortest road to a GED and thence through community college.  Since CVUSD cost him 2 years of schooling and made high school impossible, it seems reasonable that CVUSD should compensate him by putting him through two years of community college with counseling as appropriate to enable him to recover from his psychological trauma and succeed in his future academic endeavors – just as if he had gotten four years of high school without being traumatized.  To free Stephen from the continued harmful influence of CVUSD in his life, this remedy must be fashioned so as to leave CVUSD no power whatever to control the administration of this remedy.
3)  Pursuant to EC 49070, district shall correct any records that state or imply that he was suicidal or threatening others when assessed on March 27, 2007.  To the degree that CVUSD gave such false information to the mental hospital, CVUSD shall correct that violation of his privacy and of his right not to be defamed (EC 49070(a)(6)).    
4) CVUSD must be compelled to disgorge the records that I am entitled to which they are still hiding in violation of the law, especially all the educational records related to his H&H instruction.  These records shall include the confidential report about Stephen that the Superintendent created for the board as instructed in the board meeting of October 2, 2008 – demanded by me on April 1st and now being withheld in violation of EC 56504, 34 CFR 99.3, and EC 49069 (see definition of “pupil records” in EC 49061(b)).  
